Introduction 

Rodney Berry's trial was so infected with error that we can put no confidence in its 

outcome. Without a doubt, the facts of this case represent a senseless and tragic loss of two 

lives. This is a point that no one involved in this case, not even Mr. Berry, has ever denied. No 

matter how unacceptable Mr, Berry's actions were, he was still entitled to a fair trial. 

Unfortunately, Mr. Berry's trial can be described as anything but fair. 

What happened during Mr. Berry's trial can be described as shocking. His trial was 

riddled with prosecutorial excess and overreaching. The prosecutor created error in a case most 

would describe as an open and shut case for the prosecution. Nor were these errors harmless. 

They were significant constitutional errors, including the denial of the right to present a full and 

complete defense. Mr. Berry and Ms. Mills were involved in an on again off again relationship 

for six years. It was a pattern: they would break up and then they would be back together. 

Counsel had correspondence between Ms. Mills and Mr. Berry that proved this point. However, 

based on the prosecution's objection as to relevance, the trial court arbitrarily set a timeframe 

within which the defense could discuss their relationship. The court ruled that the defense could 

only discuss the last 60 days of the relationship. This prevented the defense from being able to 

effectively rebut the prosecution's argument that the relationship was over and Mr. Berry just 

could not take no for an answer. 

The trial court, at the urging of the prosecutor, further denied Mr. Berry the right to 

present mitigation evidence. Before trial, counsel filed a motion to bifurcate. That motion was 

withdrawn, during pretrial motions. Counsel renewed the motion to bifurcate, during trial, due to 

other pretrial rulings by the court which severely limited the evidence they were entitled to 

present. The State objected to the renewed motion arguing the withdrawal of the motion was a 
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strategic decision the Defense was stuck with. Counsel's motion was denied. The effect of the 

trial court's pretrial rulings, in essence, denied the defense the right to present evidence on the 

issue of mercy. At trial when counsel attempted to present any evidence relevant to mercy the 

prosecutor argued that it was not relevant to guilt and therefore inadmissible. She also argued 

that counsel was attempting to back-door a diminished capacity defense. Despite defense 

counsel's adamant argument that he was not attempting to negate intent, the trial court agreed 

with the prosecution and ruled the evidence was inadmissible. 

Further error occurred due to the prosecutor's use of unnecessary, gruesome and 

cumulative crime scene and medical examiner (herein-after M.E.) photos. Her use of photos 

was so outrageous and prejudicial that it constituted a denial of due process. In all the State 

presented 76 photos. There were approximately 57 photos from the crime scene and the M.E.'s 

office. Just to give this Court an idea of how outrageous the use of these photos was, the 

prosecutor argued that she was entitled to show two complete sets of photos, from the M.E.'s 

office, picturing the wounds to Mr. Worthington. The trial court agreed and admitted these 

photos over counsel's objections. There was nothing different in these two groups of pictures 

except that one set showed the wound as the M.E. received the body, bloody and unclean, and 

the second set showed the wound after the M.E. had cleaned the body and in some instances 

shaved the area surrounding the wound. The jurors saw approximately eight different pictures of 

just the wounds to Mr. Worthington's right hand. 

Mr. Berry was also indicted and the jury was instructed on an alternative theory of 

murder, lying in wait, that was not supported by a shred of evidence. In fact, the prosecutor 

misrepresented the evidence before the grand jury just to secure the indictment. 1 

1 All the evidence produced at trial demonstrated that Mr. Berry was standing in the open, on the 
sidewalk, Ms. Mills parked beside him, and they spoke to each other before the events occurred. 
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If that were not enough, Mr. Berry was also denied his constitutional right to a fair and 

impartial tribunal. Mr. Berry was prosecuted by Kristen Keller, an experienced prosecutor who 

was married to the trial judge, the Honorable Robert Burnside, for twelve years. Their divorce 

was final for less than one year at the time Mr. Berry's case was assigned to the Judge's docket, 

on January 10,2007. The fact that the prosecutor and judge were divorced at the time of the trial 

does not erase the appearance of impropriety as the martial relationship is the closest relationship 

two people can have and its effects are long-lasting. This is especially true when dealing with a 

marriage of twelve years. Furthermore, there are times when the issues involved in a divorce 

take years to settle and may result in financial and property connections for years. 

The requirement of impartiality is a structural requirement. Both sides, the state and the 

defendant, are entitled to an impartial tribunal. If the prosecutor felt there was any chance of 

animosity carrying over from their divorce she would have immediately requested the judge's 

recusal. She did not. Therefore, the obvious assumption of "a reasonable person" knowing all of 

the facts involved would be that she felt the relationship could benefit her during trial. Whether 

or not actual bias existed is immaterial. The appearance or possibility of bias is enough to call 

into question the outcome of Mr. Berry's case and require an automatic reversal. 

Proceedings and Rulings Below 

Rodney Berry was indicted on two counts of first degree murder by a Raleigh County 

Grand Jury for the murders of Martha Mills and Zachery Worthington which occurred on 

December 2,2006. The prosecutor presented alternative theories of first degree murder: 

premeditated first degree murder and murder by lying in wait. The grand jury returned 

indictments under both theories as to each count on January 10,2007. 
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Mr. Berry's trial began on May 11,2009, and ended on May 22,2009. There was a four 

day break in the middle ofMr. Berry's trial? The final day of trial fell on the Friday before the 

Memorial Day Holiday. According to the transcript, jurors retired to the jury room at 3:31 p.m. 

to begin deliberations. Tr. 1830 At 3 :40 p.m. jurors requested a break to call their families to tell 

them they were going to be late and to take a smoke break. That break lasted until 5:08 p.m. Tr. 

1834 Almost immediately after the break ended, the Court was notified the jury had arrived at a 

verdict. The record reflects the jurors were brought back into the court room to announce their 

verdict at 5: I 0 p.m. [d. Therefore, in a matter of eleven minutes the jury found Mr. Berry guilty 

of both counts of first degree murder and did not recommend mercy. 

Immediately after the jury announced its verdict, the Judge explained the only 

consideration he had as to sentencing was whether the sentences would be served concurrently or 

consecutively. Counsel suggested that a PSI should be ordered because it could assist the court 

in making that decision. Tr. 1843 The court declined counsel's request to order a PSI and 

immediately proceeded to sentencing. Tr. 1845 The court ordered that Mr. Berry was to serve 

the two life without mercy sentences consecutively. Tr. 1846-47 

Statement of Facts 

Rodney Berry met Martha Mills in late October of2000 on the internet. They began 

dating in November ofthat same year. Ms. Mills was Mr. Berry's first and only girlfriend. Tr. 

710 He was obsessed with her. They carried on an on again off again relationship until 

December of 2006. In the months leading up to the incident, Martha regularly called and visited 

Mr. Berry at his house. Tr. 1375-76, 1378, 1462 Mr. Berry would also visit Martha at her 

apartment. Tr. 1461 He had been there numerous times. The State's witness Angela Canady 

2 Mr. Berry's trial adjourned on Wednesday May 13,2009, and resumed on Tuesday May 19,2009, due 
to prior scheduling obligations of the court. 
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verified this when she testified she saw Mr. Berry's vehicle at Martha's apartment before. Tr. 

808 

When this incident occurred, Mr. Berry and Ms. Mills had just started dating again in 

October. This latest rough patch was nothing new as their entire relationship consisted of on 

again off again periods for the entire six years they knew each other. Tr. 710, 309-11 The 

defense was prevented from explaining the true nature oftheir relationship to jurors due to the 

trial court's ruling limiting the admission of evidence regarding their relationship to 60 days 

prior to the murders.Tr. 313 This ruling was the result ofthe State arguing that the prior 

relationship was not relevant to the murders. Tr. 299, 1347-49 The court just arbitrarily set a 

time frame that would apply. Tr. 313 The defense was prepared to present a series of emails, 

cards, and letters that would have put Mr. Berry's and Ms. Mill's relationship into context for the 

jurors. Tr. 303-13 Establishing a pattern ofthe ups and downs as a normal occurrence. This 

arbitrary time frame was very detrimental to the defense because, it prevented the defense from 

refuting the State's argument that the relationship was over and Mr. Berry was refusing to accept 

it. Tr. 303 

Mr. Berry had just bought Martha a pool table, in November of2006. His cousin, 

Richard Plumb, helped him set it up in her apartment. Tr. 1419-20 It took several hours for 

them to install the table. When asked at trial how Martha and Mr. Berry interacted while they 

were at her apartment, Mr. Plumb responded "[l]ike a boyfriend and girlfriend would act around 

one another." Id. Mr. Plumb also testified that he was regularly at Mr. Berry's home and he had 

answered the phone approximately 10 times when Ms. Mills had called for Mr. Berry during 

November of2006. Tr.1415 
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Mr. Berry was immature for his age. At age 25, he sti11lived at home with his parents. 

Tr. 710, 1456 He was going to school to be a diesel mechanic. Tr. 1456 His room was full of 

collectable toys such as model cars, star wars figures and model airplanes. Tr. 1236-38, 1357, 

1457 He also loved guns. Mr. Berry owned numerous guns. He held a concealed weapons 

permit since 2003. When he was not home he typically had two guns on him. Tr. 715, 1475 

Martha knew that Mr. Berry regularly carried guns. Tr. 1421 

Martha called Mr. Berry on the afternoon of December 1, 2006, and left a message telling 

him that she was going to a comedy club in Charleston with her brother and that she would call 

him when she got home. 3Tr. 1463 Mr. Berry was asleep when she left this message. He had 

slept all day and well into the evening, because he did not have power at his home due to a wind 

storm. Tr. 1463, 1469 Martha called around 11 :30 p.m. to tell Mr. Berry that she was home. Tr. 

1470 She told him not to come over because she was tired and was going to go to bed. She had 

to work a 12 hour shift the next day. Tr. 1463-64 Mr. Berry decided to go over to see her 

anyway because they did not get to see each other much due to their schedules. Tr. 1464-65, 

1470-71 He was bored because the power was still off and there was nothing to do so he decided 

to drive over there. He tried to call before he left but she did not answer her phone. Tr. 1471 

Mr. Berry drove to her apartment. When he arrived, the t.v. was on but Ms. Mills did not 

answer her door and her truck was not there. Tr. 1473-74 Mr. Berry decided to go drive around. 

3 The State relied on an email that Ms. Mills sent to Mr. Berry on November 31, 2006, in which she told 
him that she did not love him as she used to and that she needed space to advance its theory that the 
relationship was over; however, on December 1,2006, the day of the incident, Ms. Mills was acting as if 
the email was never sent and resuming the relationship. The fact that Ms. Mills called Mr. Berry on 
December 1, 2006, to explain her whereabouts and continually called to keep him updated as to her 
whereabouts that day demonstrates how detrimental the trial court's ruling that evidence of the prior ups 
and downs was not admissible. This was a pattern that Mr. Berry was used to and a pattern that he was 
prevented from demonstrating at trial. 
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He thought Martha may have gone out for cigarettes or she could possibly be inside asleep.4 Mr. 

Berry came back to Martha's after driving around and knocked on the door again. Once again, 

no one answered the door. Tr. 1473-75 

Mr. Berry was returning to his vehicle when he heard Martha's truck pulling into the 

parking lot. Tr. 1475 He stopped on the sidewalk in front of her apartment and waited for her to 

pull in. Martha parked right beside Mr. Berry's vehicle. She turned the truck off and got out. 

Tr. 1476 Mr. Berry noticed there was a guy sitting in the passenger seat and he asked her who 

was in the truck with her. Martha replied "a friend." [d. 

According to Mr. Berry, the way that Martha was acting and her response caused him to 

snap. Tr. 1477 He began firing at the male in Martha's truck. Mr. Berry began shooting at the 

windshield of the truck. 5 He then moved to the passenger side, opened the door and shot two 

more times. Id. Martha attempted to pull Mr. Berry out of the truck. He fired once at her 

shooting her in the face. Mr. Berry then turned and got into his vehicle and drove to his home in 

Fayette County. Id. 

Once he arrived at his home, Mr. Berry woke his parents and told them what he had done. 

Tr. 1479 He assured them that they had been good parents and this was not their fault. 

Immediately after speaking with his parents, Mr. Berry called 911 to confess and requested they 

send someone to get him. Tr. 1480 A Fayette County Sheriff's Detective, Glenn Chapman, was 

the first to arrive at Mr. Berry's house sometime after 1 :30 a.m. Tr. 1198 

4 During his testimony, Mr. Berry explained that even though Martha's truck was not in the lot she could 
have been home because it was possible that her brother had dropped her off at her apartment. Tr. 1473-
74 
5 Mr. Berry shot the windshield of the truck eight times. 
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At the time he arrived at the Berry home, Detective Chapman knew there had been a 

double shooting in Raleigh County, there was a BOL06 for a yellow and white SUV, and that 

Mr. Berry had called 911 to confess that he was the one who had shot two people in Raleigh 

County. Tr. 1198-99 Detective Chapman instructed the 911 operator to tell Mr. Berry to come 

out on the porch and to listen to his voice commands once he arrived on the scene. Tr. 2000 

Upon arrival at the scene, Detective Chapman handcuffed Mr. Berry and put him in the back of 

the cruiser. Tr. 1200 Mr. Berry was instructed that the handcuffs were for safety purposes. 

While on scene at the Berry home, Detective Chapman found the yellow and white SUV 

matching the BOLO in the driveway. Detective Chapman took pictures of the SUV because the 

vehicle had blood on the drivers' side door, mirror, and grill area. Tr. 1217-18 Detective 

Chapman also recovered two 9mm handguns which was known to be the weapon used at the 

scene. Tr. 1201, 1221-24 Despite all of this evidence, Mr. Berry was not placed under arrest. 

Tr.1208 

In fact, he was advised that he was not under arrest. He was informed that he could ride 

with the Raleigh County Deputy who was sent to Fayette County to pick him up or he could 

drive himself to the Raleigh County Sheriffs Department. Tr. 1247 Mr. Berry rode with Deputy 

Kade to the Sheriff's Department. They stayed at the Sheriff's Department until Sergent Bare, 

the supervising officer, finished clearing the crime scene in Raleigh County. Mr. Berry waited 

at the Sheriff's Department for approximately two hours for Sergent Bare to arrive. Tr.83 

Based on a mutual agreement of Sergent Bare and Ms. Keller7
, Mr. Berry was informed that he 

was not under arrest, he was given his Miranda warnings and a statement was taken by Sergent 

6 Be on the lookout 
7 Sergent Bare testified that he was in contact with Ms. Keller on three to four occasions during the night 
to update her and confer with her. Tr. 84 Sergent Bare testified that they both agreed that he did not have 
enough infonnation, at the time that he cleared the scene, to make an arrest and that he needed to get 
further infonnation from Mr. Berry. Id. 
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Bare and Deputy Kade. Tr. 1282-83 Amazingly, Deputy Kade and Sergent Bare both testified 

during the suppression hearing that they would have let Mr. Berry go if he had decided to leave 

the sheriffs department before giving a statement.8 Tr. 66, 68, 93 After giving the statement, 

Mr. Berry was placed under arrest and taken to the jail until a magistrate came on duty the next 

morning. Tr. 95-96 

Numerous errors occurred during Mr. Berry's trial. The most shocking error was Mr. 

Berry's denial of his right to an impartial tribunal. Mr. Berry's case was tried by Kristen Keller 

before the Honorable Judge Burnside. Judge Burnside and Ms. Keller were married for twelve 

years. They married in 1994, and were divorced on January 30, 2006. During their marriage, 

Judge Burnside did not accept any criminal trials. See Administrative Order App. A-I 

Approximately two and one half months after their divorce was final, on April 10, 2006, an order 

was entered allowing Judge Burnside to begin accepting criminal cases. See Administrative 

Order App. A-2 On January 10,2007, less than one year after their divorce became final and 

approximately nine months after Judge Burnside began accepting criminal cases, Mr. Berry's 

case was assigned to Judge Burnside's docket with Ms. Keller, as the prosecutor, Judge Burnside 

presided over every hearing that was held, including Mr. Berry's trial. This situation creates an 

appearance of impropriety that simply cannot be ignored. 

Another egregious error was that defense counsel was prohibited from presenting a 

defense on behalf of Mr. Berry. During pretrial hearings, on the motion of the prosecution, the 

trial court ruled that defense counsel could not bring up anything more remote regarding Mr. 

8 Sergent Bare, the lead officer in Mr. Berry's case, testified that he knew two people were dead, that Mr. 
Berry had confessed to shooting two people in Bradley to Fayette County 911, that the vehicle described 
by eye-witnesses was found at Mr. Berry's house with blood on it, and that two 9mm pistols were 
recovered in Mr. Berry's home; but that was not enough evidence to make an arrest. Tr. 91 Sergent Bare 
also testified that he believed he spoke to Ms. Keller by phone after he had cleared the scene and before 
he began the interview with Mr. Berry. Tr. 92-93 
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Berry and Ms. Mills relationship than 60 days9 prior to the crime. Tr. 313 The prosecution 

argued that their six year relationship was not relevant to the murders. Tr. 299 This kept out a 

significant portion of evidence the defense planned to present at trial in order to give an accurate 

picture of the relationship that existed, between Mr. Berry and Ms. Mills, to the jurors. This 

information was the heart ofMr. Berry's defense. 

The defense was also prohibited from presenting any evidence that was relevant to 

mercy. Based on two separate arguments made by the prosecutor Keller, all efforts by counsel to 

present evidence relevant to mercy were foreclosed. The court upheld the prosecutor's 

unbelievable argument that because counsel withdrew their motion for bifurcation they were no 

longer entitled to present evidence of mitigation on Mr. Berry's behalf. The prosecutor argued 

that mitigation was not relevant to guilt and the defense was stuck with the strategy decision they 

made to withdraw the bifurcation motion. Tr. 302-303, 329-331, 877-880, 1347-1349 As 

unbelievable as this argument was the trial court did not allow counsel to present evidence that 

they argued was vitally important to the issue of mercy. Tr.327-28, 333-34, 874-77, 1349-51 

Another argument the prosecutor advanced when defense counsel attempted to present evidence 

that was relevant to the issue of mercy was the defense was trying to "back-door a diminished 

capacity defense" and they could not present the evidence without notice to the State and an 

expert to testify. Tr. 331- 333, 877-880, 1347-49 Despite defense counsel's adamant denial of 

any attempt to negate intent, the court ruled that the evidence went to diminished capacity. The 

trial court once again agreed with the prosecutor and ruled the evidence could not be presented. 

Tr. 334, 887-90 These two rulings deprived defense counsel from presenting any evidence they 

considered relevant to mercy. 

9 The trial court just arbitrarily selected a time frame within which the defense would be bound. Tr. 313 
This ruling instantly pared a six year relationship down to a 60 day time period. 
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Additional error occurred when the prosecution offered an unusually large and excessive 

number of crime scene photos, 76 to be exact, most of which were over defense counsel's 

objection as to necessity, gruesomeness and cumulative effect. Tr. 235-38, 940-945, 952-

953,992-95, 998-999, 1090-94 Counsel argued that the prosecutor did not need the photos

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