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

T. 1514. 

Berry also confirmed that Mr. Worthington was a random victim: 

Q: It was because he was there, because he was alive and he was 
a male, then he's dead, right? 
A: That's what happened. 
Q: And for all you knew at the time, he could have been a friend, 
he could have been a long lost cousin, he could have been somebody 
whose car broke down who'd be dead? 
A: That's true, yes. Could have been anyone. 

T. 1535. 

Berry agreed that, in fact, there was no precipitating event outside of Ms. Mills' apartment 

that caused him to begin firing: 
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Q; So you had no reason to kill them both, did you? 
A: No. 

Q; And you used the deadly weapon, the 9mm against these two 
people without justification, excuse or provocation, didn't you? 
A: That's correct. 

T. 1537-1538. 

* * * 

Q: ... (D}id you accidentally fire eight rounds through the 
windshield? 
A: It didn't happen by accident, no. 

* * * 
Q: And you didn't accidentally open the passenger door and fire 
three more rounds into Mr. Worthington, did you? 
A: No, I did not. 
Q: And if it's not accidental, it's deliberate, isn't it? 
A: Yes. 

* * * 
Q: And the gun, likewise, did not accidentally go off when you 
shot Martha Mills through the face, did it? 
A: It couldn't have accidentally went off by itself, no. 
Q: And if it wasn't accidental, it's deliberate, correct? 
A: Again, in that context, yes. 

T. 1538, 1540. 

Berry also agreed that Ms. Mills and Mr. Worthington, ((were completely innocent victims." T. 

1519. 

The Statement of Facts in Appellant's Brief repeatedly cites not evidence introduced at 

trial, but rather defense counsel's remarks made during pre-trial hearings and opening 

statements. (Appellant's Brief at 4-5, citations to ((Tr. 710," ((Tr. 309-11," ((Tr. 313," ((Tr. 303-

13," Tr. 303," ((Tr. 710," ((Tr. 715.") Appellant's Brief fails to disclose that the other ((facts" 

asserted therein were rebutted by the State's evidence and by evidence elicited on cross-

examination of Berry and his two witnesses -- his mother and Richard Plumb. As required by 

Syll. Pt. 3, State v. Guthrie, 461 S.E. 2d 163 (W.Va. 1995), this Court must ((review all the 
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evidence ... in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and 

credibility assessments ... in favor of the prosecution." 

Fredric Mills -- the victim's brother -- testified that at the time of the murders Ms. 

Mills was engaged to be married to Mr. Worthington. T. 892. He testified that Mr. 

Worthington lived with Ms. Mills, except that Mr. Worthington would stay with his family 

when visiting with his young child. T. 894. Mr. Mills testified that Berry called I\IIs. Mills' 

mother's home "20 (or) maybe more times" within the month before December 2, 2006, 

asking for Ms. l\IIills, and: 

I repeatedly told him that she didn't live here anymore, that she had her own place, to 
stop calling. I'd also told him that she was staying with her boyfriend at the apartment most of 
the time. 

T.896-897. 
The claim in Appellant's Brief (at 6) that Ms. Mills telephoned Berry "around 11:30 

p.m." before the murders was contradicted by Fredric Mills, who was with Ms. Mills and Mr. 

Worthington as they visited with Ms. Mills' mother from 10:30 p.m. to 11:30 p.m. on 

December 1, 2002. T. 898-899. The claim in Appellant's Brief (at 6-7) that Berry had just 

returned to Ms. Mills' apartment when she pulled up with Mr. Worthington is contradicted by 

the testimony of Angela Canaday, discussed above, describing how Berry paced in front of Ms. 

Mills' apartment for five minutes before Ms. Mills pulled up and Berry immediately began 

firing. The claim in Appellant's Brief (at 7) that there was even a brief exchange of words also 

was contradicted by the testimony of Angela Canaday, that it was only after Berry began firing 

that Ms. Mills was able to step out of the truck. T. 791-793. The claim in Appellant's Brief (at 

7) that "the way that Martha was acting and her response caused him to snap" was rebutted 

by Berry's own trial testimony, recited above, that Ms. Mills did "nothing" and said "nothing" 

to cause him to begin shooting. T. 1499. The claim in Appellant's Brief (at 6) that Berry 

"typically had two guns on him" was contradicted by the testimony of Berry's mother: 
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Q: Was it -- is it your testimony that it was your son's habit to carry fully 
loaded 9 mm handguns whenever he went out? 
A: He would take it -- like I said, he had a permit, so he would take some 
sometime and then -- then, you know, a lot of times he would take it with him 
to --
Q: He would take a gun? 
A: He would take that or ... when he was working up on the mountain 
... he had two. In case somebody would take one, he would have the other, 
just --
Q: Working ... as a security guard? 
A: Yes. 
Q: He was not working as a security guard when he left on -- right before 
the shootings, was he? 
A: NO,no,no. 
Q: He was unemployed then, wasn't he? 
A: Yes. yes .... 

T. 1390-1391. 

In order to avoid redundancy, this Brief will address remaining inaccuracies in 

Appellant's Statements of Facts under the Discussion of Law, below. However, brief mention 

here is made of a few additional claims made in Appellant's Brief that are contradicted by the 

record. 

Appellant's Brief (at 1, 5) charges that the trial court judge "arbitrarily set a timeframe 

within which the defendant could discuss (the) relationship" between Ms. Mills and Berry and 

that the "court ruled that the defense could only discuss the last 60 days of the relationship." 

The record reflects that rather than "arbitrarily ruling," the trial court first repeatedly 

invited defense counsel to explain how evidence of what occurred in past years between Berry 

and Ms. Mills was relevant and admissible under Rule 403, W.V. R. E. in determining the issue 

of Berry's conduct on December 2, 2006. Defense counsel stated that it was "just ... to show 

the historical context of the relationship." The trial court asked defense counsel how, 

hypothetically, the historical "ups and downs" in a relationship would "have anything to do 

with state of mind at the time of the ... alleged crime?" Defense counsel answered: 
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MR. FRASHER: The hypothetical does not include things which may have 
happened which are things that the relationship's been told perhaps in the 
past it's over and then it resumes, and that could hypothetically happen on 
more than one occasion, by more -- and could have happened either way. 

T.310-313. 

Apparently unswayed by the explanation, the trial court's initial ruling was: 

So I'll arbitrarily give you ... a date here and then tell me ifthere's something 
beyond that date that you think is critical to you. Sixty days before the event. .. I'm just 
throwing it out at you. . . . T. 313. 

The trial court then repeated: "{F}rom the Defendant's point of view, what do you 

need that's older than 60 days, if anything?" Defense counsel responded that "this may be 

determined by what the State does." The trial court then ruled: 

THE COURT: All right. I can-- let's not -- let's not fix a date then, but let's fix 
the principle, that ... the Court intends not to go so far back in time as to 
enter into an irrelevant period, and "irrelevant" means something that would 
not reasonably be expected to have an effect on the Defendant's state of mind 
at the time of the -- of the events alleged. 

T. 314. {ItalicS added}. 
There was no objection to this ruling. 

Another misstatement occurs when Appellant's Brief {at 4} -- although claiming no 

error -- discusses the jury's deliberations. After the jury began deliberations at 3:31 p.m., the 

trial court at 3:40 p.m. informed counsel that the bailiff was going to allow the jurors lito call 

their families and tell them they're going to be late and to take a smoke break." Although the 

record reads "At 3:40 p.m., a break was taken until 5:08 p.m.," this does not mean that the 

jury had not returned from their break to resume deliberations during that period: there was 

no "smoke-and-phone break" of one hour and twenty-eight minutes. Defense counsel made 

no claim in this regard after the jury returned its verdict. In fact, during post-trial motions 

defense counsel contended that lithe jury in this case was out ... approximately one hour 

.... " -- not the "eleven minutes" asserted in Appellant's Brief. (7/31/09 Post Trial Motions 

Hearing at 6-7). 
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" not the "eleven minutes" asserted in Appellant's Brief. (7/31/09 Post Trial Motions 

Hearing at 6-7). 

Another muddling of the facts occurs when Appellant's Brief (at 5) quotes defense 

witness Richard Plumb's testimony that Ms. Mills and Berry behaved "like a boyfriend and 

girlfriend" but ignores the impeachment of Mr. Plumb. On direct examination Mr. Plumb had 

assured the jury that he did not "observe any problems in the relationship" between Ms. Mills 

and Berry. T.1420-1421. On cross-examination Mr. Plumb admitted that within two weeks of 

the murders Berry feared that Ms. Mills "was seeing somebody else" and that Berry was 

troubled by her behavior. T. 1452-1453. Defense counsel at trial conceded that "Mr. Plumb 

said some things that are harmful to the Defendant's case." T. 1809. 

On May 22, 2009 the jury returned its verdict, finding the defendant guilty of the first 

degree murder of Martha Mills (count 1) and guilty of the first degree murder of Zackary 

Worthington (count 3). lhe jury found that both murders were committed by the use of a 

firearm, as charged in counts 2 and 4 of the indictment. The jury declined to add a 

recommendation of mercy to either count of first degree murder. T. 1836-1837. There was 

no defense objection to the trial court's announcement that it would proceed with sentencing, 

and Berry declined to exercise his right of allocution. The trial court sentenced Berry to two 

consecutive life sentences without the possibility of parole. T. 1843-1845. 

RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

I. There was no basis for the disqualification of the trial court judge in this case, and 

defense counsel made no recusal motion. Further, in a prior unrelated case in which defense 

counsel moved for the same judge's disqualification on the same grounds as alleged in the 

instant appeal, this Court refused to order recusal. 
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II. The record reveals no factual support for the conclusory claim that Berry was not 

allowed "a full and complete defense" after the defense withdrew its bifurcation motion prior 

to trial and then orally moved for mid-trial bifurcation of the unitary trial. 

III. There is no appellate dispute that Berry committed the first degree murders of two 

victims by means of premeditated, malicious killings, and the prosecution is not required to 

prove him guilty of both the premeditated, malicious first degree murders and first degree 

murders by the alternative means of lying in wait. Nevertheless, there was more than 

sufficient evidence for the jury to find that Berry, acting in secrecy from his victims, waited and 

watched before the victims' arrival and then immediately began firing over a dozen bullets 

into their vehicle and into their bodies. 

IV. There is no shOWing that the trial court clearly abused its discretion in finding that the 

probative value of the photographs introduced at trial outweighed the unfair prejudice -- if 

any -- caused to Berry's case: the claim that the photographs were "unnecessary" 

demonstrates a misapprehension of the Rule 403, W.V. R.E. test for admissibility. 

V. The accusation of prosecutorial misconduct is without merit: indeed, appellate 

counsel concedes that no reversible error resulted from the conduct of the prosecutor about 

which counsel complains. 

DISCUSSION OF LAW 

I. JUDICIAL DISQUALIFICATION 

What Appellant's Brief (at 9) assigns as "(t)he most shocking error" in Berry's trial is a 

spurious attack upon the integrity of a member of the judiciary. Appellant's Brief (at 15, 22) 

mentions in passing the pivotal fact that "Berry's counsel did not request that the judge recuse 

himself/rom this trial." (Italics added). 
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Berry's appellate counsel either knows or had a duty to discover that this issue was 

settled in 2006. Appellee's Exhibit 1, attached hereto, includes Judge Burnside's response to a 

2006 motion to recuse him. It confirms that by March, 2006 Chief Public Defender Joseph 

Noggy had agreed to Judge Burnside's presiding over criminal cases arising from alleged crimes 

occurring after January 31, 2006. Appellant's Brief (at 21, n. 20), asserts for the first time and 

without any factual support that defense counsel had not informed Berry of Judge Burnside's 

prior marriage: if this is true, it only demonstrates that counsel had no concerns about the 

judge's impartiality.2 

The vacuous speculations contained in Appellant's Brief (at 15, 16, 20,22)' that Judge 

Burnside may have had some interest in the "reputation and livelihood" of the prosecutor, 

that "many people who are divorced still carry on a relationship," that there "are numerous 

issues that can take years to resolve (including) financial connections," all are proven untrue 

here. As Judge Burnside's December 12, 2006 memorandum letter confirms (at 4): 

As of January 31, 2006, there exists no relationship between Ms. Keller 
and myself that would support disqualification .... 

* * * 
... Ms. Keller and I have no children together, and we never had 
jointly owned property or shared financial interests. No support 
obligations survive the marriage and there is no residual personal 
relationship .... 

The claim in Appellant's Brief (at 14, n.13) that there is "an ongoing issue" of Judge 

Burnside's participating in criminal cases also is demonstrably false. The "issue" was settled by 

2 Appellant's Brief (at 16) speculates about whether the instant case was the first "major" criminal case 
over which Judge Burnside presided after his divorce. Due inquiry -- such as a call to the Raleigh County 
Public Defender's Office -- would have disclosed that the first such case over which Judge Burnside 
presided and in which his former wife was the prosecutor was State v. Billy James "Bo-Bo" Fleming, No. 
07-F-44-B, in which a first degree murder charge was dismissed because Judge Burnside suppressed 
collateral crimes evidence essential to the State's case. 
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the Order of this Supreme Court of Appeals entered December 13, 2006, refusing to order 

recusal. Judge Burnside has presided over scores of criminal cases since that date with no 

motion to recuse him made by any member of the Raleigh County Public Defenders Office or 

by any other attorney retained or appointed in criminal cases. 

The cases cited in Appellant's Brief (at 17-23) concerning judicial disqualification are 

inapplicable here because not one concerns a criminal trial in which the defense, fully 

informed of the prior relationship between the trial judge and the prosecutor, made no claim 

of judicial disqualification until the appeal. In the instant case, not only was there no pre-trial 

motion for disqualification as required by Rule 17, W.V. T.C.R., there was no claim of error in 

this regard by defense counsel in post-conviction motions or even in the Notice of Intent to 

Appeal. Accordingly, this claim, first raised on appeal, is barred by the "raise or waive" rule: 

Our cases consistently have demonstrated that, in general, the law 
ministers to the vigilant, not to those who sleep on their rights. 
Recently, we stated ... "The rule in West Virginia is that parties must 
speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, 
they will likely be bound forever to hold their piece." (Citation 
omitted). State v. LaRock, 470 S.E. 2d 613, 634-635 (W.Va. 1996). 

The "raise or waive" rule is incorporated into W.Va. Code §51-2-8, recognized in Appellant's 

Brief (at 18) as "the disqualification statute." §51-2-8 omits any mention of former spouses. 

Further, the statue expressly provides that, even when a disqualifying relationship exists, no 

judgment or decree rendered or pronounced by any such judge shall be invalidated by reason 

of such relationship unless the same appear of record in such suit or proceeding. (Italics 

added). 

Appel/ate's Brief (at 22) makes the entirely conclusory claim that, even in the absence 

of a motion to recuse, Judge Burnside's participation in the instant case constituted "a 

structural defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceed(ed)." Appellant's 
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Brief cites Arizono v. Fulminote, 499 U.S. 279; 310; 111 S. Ct. 1246, 1265; 113 L. Ed. 2d 302, 331 

(1991), which concerned a coerced confession and only included in dicta a citation to a case in 

which the judge was "not impartiaL" The other citation is to Neder v. United Stotes, 527 U.S. 

1, 8; 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1833; 144 L. Ed. 2d 35, 46 (1999), which concerned a harmless error 

analysis of instructional error and only included in dicta the obvious fact that there is 

"structural error" -- or plain error -- when it is established that a trial judge actually is biased. 

This claim-in-passing of "structural error," lacking factual support or applicable citations of law, 

cannot warrant appellate review:

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